I. APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. 	 The trial court committed reversible error when it 

instructed the jury on deadly weapons enhancement over 

the objection of counsel and sentenced including the 

deadly weapons enhancement. 

B. 	 The State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it 

argued facts not in evidence and unconstitutionally 

shifted the burden of proof onto the Appellant. 

C. 	 The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed 

the use of the controversial Washington Pattern Jury 

Instruction 401 including the bracketed "abiding belief in 

the truth of the crime charged language"

II. ISSUES 

A. 	 Whether the trial court committed reversible error by 

instructing the jury on the deadly weapons enhancement 

over the objection of counsel? 

B. 	 Whether the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by 

arguing facts not in evidence and unconstitutionally 

shifting the burden of proof to the Appellant? 

C. 	 Whether the combination of Washington Pattern Jury 

Instruction 401 's language regarding '''abiding belief' and 

argument by the State violated the Appellant's right to a 

fair trial? 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 10,2013, Mykel Strasser's second trial for first 

degree burglary, armed with a baseball bat, a deadly weapon, 

first degree robbery, armed with same baseball bat, a deadly 

weapon, began. RP 21. A retrial of the same case that resulted 

in a hung jury in February, 2013. Mr. Strasser's defense 

throughout both trials was he was not present at the robbery. 

RP 6, February 25,2013, pretrial motions. 

By November 3, 2011, Mykel Strasser and Sean Mustard 

had been friends approximately two and a half to three years. 

RP 258. On November 3,2011, around 11:00 P.M., Mr. 

Strasser was accused ofbreaking down Mr. Mustard's door 

along with four unknown men and entering the house. RP 123. 

Mr. Mustard kept an aluminum baseball bat immediately next to 

the front door for "protection". RP 130,275. One of the men 

grabbed the bat as they entered the house. RP 275. It was not 
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Mr Strasser. RP 275. Several things were taken from Mr. 

Mustard's bedroom. RP 127, 154. Mr. Mustards mother, his 

step father, a neighbor and Mr. Mustard claimed at trial they 

were witnesses to the robbery and that Michael Strasser was 

there taking things from the bedroom. There was no indication 

that anyone was struck or injured in a physical manner. 

At the beginning of the trial the court adopted the pretrial 

rulings from the February trial. RP 1. Those rulings had been 

made on February 25,2013, and are the subject ofa transcript 

that was provided later to this court. RP, February 25,2014, 

Pretrial Motions. The subject of those motions, substantially, 

pertained to several issues regarding ER 404(b) evidence. RP 4, 

9, pretrial motions. Between approximately November 3rd
, 

2011, and roughly six months before the date of the alleged 

robbery, Mr. Strasser and the alleged victim in the trial, Mr. 

Sean Mustard, had smoked marijuana together on occasion, and 

went to a party at a friend of Mr. Strasser's. At that party one or 
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the other of them had stolen a laptop computer and an Ipod. RP 

10, 11, pretrial motions. To use the State's own words, the 

"victim" believed that theft was the primary motive for the 

robbery six months later at his house. RP 11-12, pretrial 

motions. The State claimed during the motions that getting 

back the laptop and the Ipod stolen in the earlier theft was the 

motive for the robbery at issue. RP 13, pretrial motions. Out of 

the blue, the court sua sponte asked "Is there an identity issue 

here." RP 14, pretrial motions. The State, realizing what it had 

just been handed, responded enthusiastically "Apparently there 

is, your honor". RP 13, pretrial motions. The defense, as stated 

above, was always Mr. Strasser was not there at the robbery. 

Defense counsel agreed to let in the both the previous theft of 

the laptop and the marijuana paraphernalia under 404(b), prior 

bad acts. RP 15-16 pretrial motions, and RP 2-3,7. 

The State argued from the opening statement that the 

robbery was some sort of "vendetta". RP 110. That "[t]hey 
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smoked marijuana together, stole together, and that Mr. Strasser 

took a laptop and Ipod from a party. RP 109. The State even 

anticipated the defense in his opening statement, "You're going 

to hear from the defense that says that Mr. Strasser was not a 

part of this, that this didn't happen". RP 111. In addition, "The 

defense may call witnesses. The defense may call the 

defendant's mother. And you'll get to assess whether she's 

biased in trying to protect, understandably so, trying to protect 

her son." RP 113. 

During the trial the State brought up the theft at the party 

with Mr. Strasser of the laptop and ipod in testimony with the 

alleged victim Mr. Mustard. RP 263. Mr. Mustard testified that 

Mr. Strasser contacted him about picking up some of his 

property and that Mr. Strasser was angry. RP 268. When asked 

why Mr. Strasser was angry at him, Mr. Mustard said "I don't 

know". RP 268. Later, the prosecutor tried to get Mr. Mustard 

to mention the Laptop and Ipod as a basis for a vendetta again, 
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but Mr. Mustard did not bite, and said, in effect, I don't know 

why they broke into my house. RP 297. 

Based upon this foundation, the State argued in closing 

that there was "a couple of possibilities" as motive for this 

robbery. RP 360. "And the State would submit it doesn't 

matter which one you believe", that Mykel stole the laptop and 

when his friends found out he tried to blame it on Mr. Mustard. 

So this robbery resulted from the effort by Mr. Strasser to cover 

the fact that he was the one to actually take the laptop, or Mr. 

Mustard stole the laptop and Mr. Strasser committed this 

robbery to get it back. RP 360-361. "Either way ladies and 

gentleman, it doesn't matter which version under the law. You 

don't get to take matters into your own hands." RP 361. 

During the trial the subject of Mr. Mustard's bat came up 

with all the witnesses. Karin Mustard, Sean Mustard's mother, 

testified that she was "threatened by the baseball bat" when one 

of the guys who came with Mr. Strasser lifted it and she thought 
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he was going to smash her flat screen monitor. RP 124-125. 

She also testified, without objection to speculation, that she saw 

Mr. Strasser hold the bat up to hit Mr. Mustard, but that the 

neighbor stepped between them. RP 129. This was after Mr. 

Strasser had left the house. RP 131. According to Ms. Mustard, 

Mr. Strasser had the bat while inside the house but he did not 

"brandish" it. RP 131. Mr. Moses, Mr. Mustard's step father 

testified that there was a big kid standing in front of the 

computer and that he had a bat. RP 155. The neighbor, Ms. 

Hilde-Thomas, testified that she saw Mr. Strasser come out the 

front door with "something in his hand" and that Mr. Mustard 

was behind him. RP 196. She did not know if it was a bat, or a 

stick, or a baton. RP 197. She said Mr. Strasser "kind ofraised 

it" like he was going to hit someone with it but he didn't hit 

anybody. RP 197. In response to further pressure from the 

prosecutor, she testified that "he [Mr. Strasser] had gone like 

this with whatever he had in his hand, he raised his hand. He 
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didn't raise it up to his head or anything but he raised it instead 

ofhis arm." RP 199. Mr. Mustard testified that as Mr. Strasser 

was leaving the house he charged at Mr. Mustard with the bat 

"like he was going to hit me with it" and Mr. Mustard stepped 

out of the way. RP 280. Later he described the same conduct 

saying that Mr. Strasser "fast stepped" toward him "flinching" 

the bat. RP 282. No testimony established that Mr. Mustard's 

bat had been raised to strike anything or to threaten anyone with 

a beating. The bat was not brought into the house by Mr. 

Strasser or any of the men claimed to have accompanied him. 

At the conclusion of evidence defense counsel objected 

giving a weapons enhancement instruction to the jury, 

particularly number nineteen in the court's packet. RP 336-337, 

352. The trial court decided to instruct the jury on the weapons 

enhancement over that objection. RP 338. 

On June 13,2013, Mr. Strasser was found guilty on all 

counts including two weapons enhancements. RP 388 
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IV. ARGUMENT 


A. Standard ofReview 

Abuse ofDiscretion on all evidentiary issues. State v. 

Gallagher, 112 Wn. App. 601,609,51 P.3d 100 (2002). 

B. 	 There was no Basis Upon Which to Instruct they Jury on 

the Weapons Enhancement for the bat. 

In order for a weapons enhancement to be appropriately 

charged and instructed and submitted to a jury, if the weapon 

alleged is not a firearm, the weapon must have the capacity to 

inflict death and, from the manner in which it was used, is likely 

to produce or may easily and readily produce death. RCW 

9.94A.825. A bat is not a deadly weapon per se. "... thus the 

inherent capacity and the circumstances in which it is used 

determine whether a weapon is deadly. State v. Shill ina, 77 

Wn. App. 166, 171,889 P.2d 948 (1995. More than mere 

possession is required where the weapon is neither a firearm or 
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an explosive. In re Personal Restraint of Martinez, 171 Wn.2d 

354,366,256 P.3d 277 (2011). The Supreme Court has 

specifically disapproved of the approach that an implement that 

has the mere potential of causing great bodily harm is a deadly 

weapon. Martinez, supra at 368 n.6, State v. Gamboa, 137 Wn. 

App. 650, 154 P.3d 312 (2007). 

In looking at the facts set forth above relating to the bat in 

this case there is very scant evidence that the bat was a part of 

this alleged robbery. It belonged to the alleged victims, it was 

never raised over anyone as if to strike and it was not used as a 

means to procure any of the items that were taken. The court 

committed reversible error by instructing the jury on the 

weapons enhancement and in sentencing Mr. Strasser to two 

weapons enhancements for the bat. Mr. Strasser respectfully 

request this court recognize this error, dismiss the weapons 

enhancements and remand the case for new trial or re

sentencing. 
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C.. The State Committed Prosecutorial Misconduct by 

Arguing Facts not in the Record and Shifting the Burden 

ofProof to the Defendant During Oral Argument. 

In order to prove prosecutorial misconduct a defendant 

must prove both the prosecutor's conduct was improper and that 

it deprived the defendant of a fair trial. State v. Jackson, 150 

Wn. App. 877,882,209 P.3d 553 (2009). Where no objection 

was made at the time of the alleged misconduct, a defendant 

must show that there is a substantial likelihood that the 

misconduct affected the jury's verdict, and that the misconduct 

was so flagrant that no instruction could have cured the 

resulting prejudice. Jackson, supra at 883 

In this case the State mentioned the witnesses the defense 

would call in his opening statement, and said that Mr. Strasser's 
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mother would not be credible because she wanted to protect her 

son. He went on to say the defense in the case would be that 

this didn't happen. Finally, and throughout the proceedings, the 

state constructed a motive by repeatedly telling the court, and 

then the jury, that this burglary was about the laptop and an 

Ipod, but failed to produce any testimony at trial to substantiate 

these claims. He even argued specifically that Mr. Strasser's 

efforts to cover up his own theft of the laptop was the motive for 

the robbery. RP 360. 

By arguing in the manner the State effectively shifted the 

burden to Mr. Strasser to produce witnesses and to put on a 

specific defense. In addition, the prosecutor attained the 

admission ofobjectionable evidence under 404(b), created a 

motive for the crime that was not later supported by the 

evidence, and effectively argued to the jury on more than one 

occasion that retrieval of the laptop was the motive for the 

robbery. Mr. Strasser respectfully requests the Court reverse 
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and remand the case for a new trial based on prosecutorial 

misconduct. 

D. 	 The Inclusion of the Bracket Lanliualie reliardinli 

"Abidinli Belief in the Truth of the Crime Charlied" 

in WPIC 401 Deprived the Appellant ofa Fair 

Trial. 

Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 401, when including 

the bracketed material reads thus: 

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty, which puts 

in issue every element of the crime charged. The State, as 

plaintiff, has the burden ofproving each element of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption 

continues throughout the entire trial unless during your 

deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and 

may arise from the evidence or lack ofevidence. It is such a 

doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after 

fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack 

of evidence. (If, from such consideration, you have an abiding 

belief in the truth of the charge you are satisfied beyond a 

reasonable doubt.) 

In State v~ Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760,278 P.2d 653 

(2012), and State v, Berube, 286 P.3d 402,411 (2012), both 

courts determined that the State's argument that a jury's job is to 

search for the truth is impermissible. The bracketed material in 

WPIC 401 inexorably connects the concepts of truth and being 

satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. To argue or distinguish 

otherwise is to defy all logic. "If ... you have an abiding belief 

in the truth of the crime charged you are satisfied beyond a 

reasonable doubt". The State in this case confined its argument 

to reasonableness of the evidence, but how can a juror be 
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expected to not equate reasonableness with his or her abiding 

belief in the truth of the crime charged when they are 

desperately searching for a definition for "reasonable doubt", 

and the bracketed material gives them the only clear 

explanation. 

Based on the courts including the bracketed material in 

the final jury instructions, and the danger of infusing the search 

for truth into the jury deliberations, Appellant respectfully 

requests this Court reverse the conviction and remand for new 

trial. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Mykel Strasser respectfully 

requests this Court reverse the convictions for robbery in the 

first degree and burglary in the first degree with the attendant 

weapons enhancement and remand for a new trial.