I.  APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court committed reversible error when it instructed the 

jury on deadly weapons enhancements over the objection of 

counsel and sentenced including the deadly weapon enhancement. 

2. The State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it argued facts 

not in evidence and unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof 

onto Appellant. 

3. The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the use 

of the controversial Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 401 

including the bracketed “abiding belief in the truth of the crime 

charged language” over both the objection of the State and the 

Appellant.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when instructing the 

jury on the deadly weapon allegations contained in Counts I and II of the 

information? 

2. Has the defendant met his burden of establishing 

prosecutorial misconduct? 

3. Did the trial court err when instructing the jury on 

reasonable doubt by including the “abiding belief” language in the 

instruction? 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The appellant/defendant, Mykel Strasser, was charged by 

information in the Spokane County Superior Court with First Degree 

Burglary under Count I, and First Degree Robbery under Count II. CP 1. 

Each crime included a deadly weapon enhancement allegation. CP 1. The 

first trial was declared a mistrial because the jury was deadlocked. CP 36. 

Evidence at the second trial established Karen Mustard and her 

son, Sean Mustard
1
, were at their home during the evening hours of 

November 3, 2011. RP 118-122; RP 210. Ms. Mustard heard a loud boom 

as someone kicked in a door to the residence around 11:00 pm. RP 123; 

126-27; RP 235. Three to four large males dressed in black and the 

defendant entered the home uninvited. RP 123. The attackers were yelling 

and screaming. RP 124. Several of the assailants used bats that evening. 

RP 143. At one point during the incident, one of the individuals raised a 

baseball bat. RP 124-25. Ms. Mustard felt threatened. RP 124. She also 

believed the individual was going to smash some of the home computer 

equipment. RP 125. Ms. Mustard also observed the defendant raise a 

baseball bat into the air and her son contemporaneously “duck and cover.” 

RP 132.  

                                                 

1
 For ease of reference, Sean Mustard will be referred to as Sean. 
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During this event, and as he was digging through the family’s 

personal items in the house, he asked Sean for the “laptop.” RP 277. As 

the defendant left the doorway to the home, he charged Sean with a 

baseball bat and he acted as if he was going to hit Sean. RP 270-80. 

Outside, Sean was trying to convince one of the attackers that the 

defendant had the “laptop.” RP 280. 

A neighbor observed one of the attackers with an object in his hand 

outside the residence after the incident. RP 197. RP 206-07. She described 

it as similar to a bat; stick or a baton. RP 197. She further identified the 

object as a weapon. RP 207. One of the bats used during the incident was 

collected at the scene as evidence. RP 241. 

Ms. Mustard also identified the defendant as “stealing” items from 

the home. RP 125. Another witness at the Mustard residence that evening, 

Thomas Moses, described the attackers as “carting” items out from Sean’s 

bedroom and out of the house. RP 155. Specifically: snow skiing 

equipment; clothing; a guitar, and marijuana. RP 127. 

As the assailants left the residence, they threw a concrete block 

through the windshield of Seas’s car. RP 133; RP 160. 

Ms. Mustard; Sean, and Mr. Moses recognized the defendant as 

one of the assailants. RP 121; RP 123-126; RP 154-57; RP 258-274. 
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Prior to this event, Sean and the defendant had developed a 

friendship. RP 259. Approximately one to two months before the incident, 

Sean and the defendant were at a party at a friend’s house. The defendant 

showed Sean a laptop and an iPod in his backpack he had taken from 

someone at the party. RP 263-65. Sean believed one of the assailants at the 

burglary was at the party from where the laptop was taken a month earlier. 

RP 272.  

Approximately one month later, the defendant left some personal 

items
2
 in Sean’s car. RP 266-67. Approximately two weeks later, the 

defendant contacted Sean and demanded the return of his personal items. 

RP 268. Sean placed the items on the front porch to his mother’s residence 

so the defendant could retrieve the items. RP 269. 

Thereafter, the matter proceeded to trial and the defendant was 

convicted of First Degree Burglary and First Degree Robbery by a jury on 

June 13, 2013. CP 57; CP 59. The jury also found the defendant used a 

deadly weapon during commission of both offenses. CP 58; CP 60. The 

defendant was sentenced to a standard range sentence on both offenses. 

CP 61. 

                                                 

2
   The items consisted of a pair of sunglasses; a sweatshirt, and a 

bottle of homemade liquor. RP 267. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. THERE WAS SUFFICENT EVIDENCE TO INSTRUCT THE 

JURY ON THE DEADLY WEAPON ENHANCMENT-SPECIAL 

VERDICT. 

Appellant argues the evidence was insufficient to instruct the jury 

on the deadly weapon enhancements. 

Standard of Review 

The standard of review applicable to jury instructions, if based 

upon a factual determination, is abuse of discretion. State v. Walker, 136 

Wn.2d 767, 771–72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998).  

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light 

most favorable to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 

P.2d 1068(1992). “A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's 

evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom.” Id. at 

201. Matters pertaining to credibility of witnesses, conflicting testimony, 

and persuasiveness of the evidence are the exclusive province of the fact 

finder. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). 

 The deadly weapon allegation statute states, in relevant part,  

 

[A] deadly weapon is an implement or instrument 

which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner 

in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and 

readily produce death. The following instruments are 

included in the term deadly weapon: Blackjack, sling shot, 

billy, sand club, sandbag, metal knuckles, any dirk, dagger, 
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pistol, revolver, or any other firearm, any knife having a 

blade longer than three inches, any razor with an unguarded 

blade, any metal pipe or bar used or intended to be used as 

a club, any explosive, and any weapon containing 

poisonous or injurious gas. 

 

RCW 9.94A.825. 

 

Baseball bats are not on the statutory list of per se deadly weapons. 

Thus, the defendant argues the baseball bat does not qualify as a “deadly 

weapon” for sentencing enhancement purposes because there was 

insufficient evidence that he used the baseball bat in a manner that was 

likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death. Whether a 

weapon is deadly is a question of fact, which the State must prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt. State v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 754, 613 P.2d 121 

(1980). 

The trial court’s Jury Instruction No. 19
3
 stated in relevant part: 

 A person is armed with a deadly weapon if, at the 

time of the commission of the crime, the weapon is easily 

accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive 

use. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

there was a connection between the weapon and the 

defendant or an accomplice. The State must also prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a connection 

between the weapon and the crime. In determining whether 

these connections existed, you should consider, among other 

factors, the nature of the crime and the circumstances 

                                                 

3
  The trial court used 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: 

WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 2.07. 

RP 352; CP 49. 



7 

 

surrounding the commission of the crime, including the 

location of the weapon at the time of the crime and the type 

of weapon. 

 

 If one person is armed with a deadly weapon, all 

accomplices are deemed to be so armed, even if only one 

deadly weapon is involved. 

 

 A deadly weapon is an implement or instrument that 

has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in 

which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and 

readily produce death. The following instruments are 

examples of deadly weapons: blackjack, sling shot, billy, 

sand club, sandbag, metal knuckles, any dirk, dagger, pistol, 

revolver or any other firearm, any knife having a blade longer 

than three inches, any razor with an unguarded blade, and 

any metal pipe or bar used or intended to be used as a club, 

any explosive, and any weapon containing poisonous or 

injurious gas. 

 

 At the time of trial, the defense objected to this instruction. RP 335-

337. The trial court found sufficient evidence had been produced to give the 

instruction. RP 337-338. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. 

 Common sense supports the view that a baseball bat has the 

capacity to inflict death. Moreover, a baseball bat is sufficiently similar to 

a “metal pipe or bar used or intended to be used as a club,” which could be 

recognized as a deadly weapon as a matter of law. 

 Here, Ms. Mustard testified one of the assailants raised a bat and 

she felt threatened. RP 124. She also believed the individual intended on 

smashing some of the family’s personal items. RP 125. She also witnessed 

this individual raise the bat into the air and her son simultaneously “duck 
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and cover.” RP 132. In addition, Sean observed the defendant charge him 

with a baseball bat as if he was going to strike him as the defendant left 

the home. RP 270-280. In addition, Sean observed one of the participants 

grab a bat upon entry into the house and charge toward him. RP 275.  

 The appellant and the other perpetrators did not sit idly with bats in 

hand during this encounter. They used the bats to intimidate and threaten the 

residents of the home. The bats could have easily and readily caused the 

death of one of the inhabitants of the home. 

 The trial court did not abuse its discretion by instructing the jury with 

respect to the deadly weapon enhancements. 

B. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN THE 

CONTEXT OF THE ENTIRE TRIAL. 

The standard of review for a trial court’s ruling on prosecutorial 

misconduct is abuse of discretion. State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 

326 P.3d 125 (2014). 

A defendant alleging prosecutorial misconduct has the burden of 

showing the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the 

context of the entire trial. In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 

673 (2012).  

Where a defendant raises the issue for the first time on appeal, the 

defendant must also show “that the misconduct was so flagrant and  
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ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice.” 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704. Prejudice occurs only if “ ‘there is a 

substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict.’ ” State v. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.2d 551 (2011). (Emphasis in the 

original.) 

Opening Statement 

 A prosecutor is permitted to outline the anticipated testimony and 

reasonable inferences in his or her opening statement so long he or she 

believes in good faith that such testimony will be produced at trial. State v. 

Kroll,  87 Wn.2d 829, 834-835, 558 P.2d 173 (1977); State v. Grisby, 97 

Wn.2d 493, 498-499, 647 P.2d 6 (1982), cert. denied, Frazier v. 

Washington, 459 U.S. 1211, (1983), review denied, 153 Wn.2d 1024 

(2005).  

The defense never objected to any statement made by the State at 

the time of opening statement. RP 108-113. Any objection to misconduct 

of the prosecutor in opening statement is waived by failure to make a 

timely objection and request a curative instruction unless the statement is 

so flagrant that no instruction could cure it. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 

657, 661, 585 P.2d 142 (1978); State v. Morris, 70 Wn.2d 27, 33, 422 P.2d 

27 (1967).  
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In the case at bar and during opening statement, the prosecutor 

remarked the jury could hear from defense witnesses to include the 

defendant’s mother. RP 113. The prosecutor further commented that the 

jury would be able to assess whether she was biased. RP 113. The defense 

also commented during opening statement as to what it anticipated the 

testimony of defendant’s mother to be at the time of trial. RP 115–116. As 

projected, the defendant’s mother testified at the time of trial. RP 303-310. 

The defense has provided no authority that bars the prosecutor 

from commenting during opening statement as to the anticipated 

testimony of an identified defense witness.  

Moreover, the prosecution's opening statement followed the 

evidence that was introduced at trial and can in no way be characterized as 

so flagrant, persistent, and ill-intentioned or wrongly inflicted so as to 

unduly prejudice the defendant. The jury heard the evidence and was 

instructed counsel's argument was not evidence. RP 342. 

Finally, appellant waived any argument with respect to the 

prosecutor’s opening statement because he did not object at the time of 

trial and he did not request a curative instruction. 
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Allegation of Facts Not in Evidence and the State’s Burden of Proof 

Appellant next claims the State never produced any evidence of a 

missing laptop or iPod as a motive for the crimes. He does so with a 

cursory statement in his brief. 

Contrary to the defendant’s allegation, Sean Mustard testified he 

observed a laptop and iPod in the defendant’s backpack several months 

prior to the incident. RP 263-65. At the time of the incident, the defendant 

asked Sean for the “laptop.” RP 277. Sean also believed one of the 

assailants was at the party from where the laptop was taken. RP 272. 

Accordingly, the prosecutor argued at the time of closing argument 

that the defendant concocted a story that Sean stole the laptop and iPod 

from the party, and the defendant went to Sean’s house on a ruse to 

convince the owner the laptop and iPod were at Sean’s house.  

In closing argument, prosecutors are afforded wide latitude to draw 

and express reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Fisher, 165 

Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). When analyzing prejudice, the 

court does not view the comment in isolation, but in the context of the 

total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the instructions 

given to the jury. State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 

(2007), cert. denied, 554 U.S. 922 (2008). 
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Here, the prosecutor was certainly allowed to draw inferences from 

the testimony and evidence produced at trial. Appellant has not 

demonstrated the remarks were improper, much less that “the [alleged] 

misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would 

not have cured the prejudice.” 

Appellant did not object to the prosecutor's argument. If appellant 

had objected and if the court found a basis, the trial court could have 

struck the prosecutor's arguments regarding the electronic devices from 

the record and instructed the jury to disregard any arguments the evidence 

did not support. This would have cured any claimed prejudice.  

The appellant has not met his burden of demonstrating a 

substantial likelihood of misconduct that affected the jury’s verdict. 

Moreover, he waived his claim because he did not object and request a 

curative instruction. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-761, 278 P.3d 

653 (2012). 

C. THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT HAS EXPRESSLY 

AFFIRMED THE ABIDING BELIEF LANGUAGE IN THE 

REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION PROVIDED TO THE 

JURY. 

The appellant challenges the trial court’s Jury Instruction No. 3 

that “[i]f from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth 
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of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.”
4
 He contends 

the “abiding belief” language encouraged the jury to undertake an 

impermissible search for the truth.  

Contrary to his argument, the Supreme Court has expressly 

affirmed the use of the abiding belief language in the reasonable doubt 

instruction in State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 308, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). 

In Bennett, the Supreme Court stated: 

In [State v.] Tanzymore, [54 Wn.2d 290, 340 P.2d 178 

(1959)] written almost half a century ago, we observed, 

“[t]his instruction has been accepted as a correct statement 

of the law for so many years, we find the assignment [of 

error criticizing the instruction] without merit.” Id. at 291, 

340 P.2d 178.  

 

Bennett  161 Wn.2d at 308. See also, State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 

904 P.2d 245 (1995); State v. Fedorov, 181 Wn.App. 187, 200, 324 P.3d 

784 (2014); State v. Kinzle, 181 Wn.App. 774, 784, 326 P.3d 870 (2014). 

 In the present case, the State did not argue it was the jury’s job to 

search for the truth as suggested by the appellant. Furthermore, the State 

did not argue the merits of the trial court’s Instruction No. 3 or how to 

apply it to the facts of the case. RP 353-367; RP 380-384.  

                                                 

4
 The trial court used 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: 

WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01. 

RP 344-45; CP 49. 

 
 



14 

 

 The trial court did not error when instructing the jury on 

reasonable doubt. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The respondent respectfully requests the court affirm the 

defendant’s convictions and sentences for the reasons stated above.